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QPP’s Commitment to Reconciliation and Respect

QPP acknowledges the Traditional Owners of the many lands upon 
which we work and live, including but not limited to; the Turrbal and 
Jagera (Brisbane), Gubbi Gubbi (Nambour), Yuwi (Mackay), Yidinjdji 
(Cairns), Nyawaygi (Townsville) and Darumbal (Rockhampton) peoples. 
QPP recognises that this land has always been under their custodianship 
and pays respect to Elders past and present and to emerging community 
leaders. QPP also acknowledges the important role of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people within the organisation and the communities 
we work alongside.

QPP supports and welcomes the commitment to move forward with 
Constitutional recognition of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
as part of a broader action towards genuine, meaningful and lasting 
reconciliation.

Makarrata - the process towards a national Treaty remains unfinished 
business.

The Uluru Statement from the Heart - remains unfinished business.

We at QPP commit to working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people to make reconciliation and self-determination a reality.
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It has been another year of significant progress, with 
very promising decreases in HIV diagnoses in very 
promising decreases in HIV diagnoses in Australia and 
the removal of AIDS from the National Notifiable 
Disease List. Early detection, treatment adherence 
and a focus on retention in care is supporting people 
living with HIV (PLHIV) to live longer and healthier 
lives.

However, it is notable that in Queensland, HIV 
diagnoses among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities account for almost half of all Australian 
notifications among this group. A coordinated 
response to HIV has now been established in North 
Queensland with the development of a North 
Queensland HIV Action Plan. This plan will be used 
to map a way forward and will hopefully result in 
increased health promotion and HIV testing, better 
engagement of people in care and support, and a 
reduction in the stigma and shame associated with a 
positive HIV diagnosis.

The proportion of PLHIV in older age groups is 
growing and over 50% of PLHIV reside in regional 
areas. This presents real challenges for health and 
community services and increasingly, will also involve 
ageing and disability support services providers. QPP 
is aware of these issues and is actively exploring ways 
to fund and expand our range of services.

This past twelve months has been a time of significant 
organisational change for Queensland Positive People. 
After Mark Counter’s resignation as President in 
November 2018, I have been in the role after two 
years on the Board. I would like to thank my fellow 
Board members for their support as I have established 
myself in this new role.

I would like to acknowledge and thank Chris Howard, 
Executive Programs Manager and Jane Copeland, 
Executive Operations Manager who acted as Chief 
Executive Officer after the retirement of Simon 
O’Connor. They both stepped up to the challenge 
of keeping the QPP ship sailing while maintaining the 
delivery of QPP programs and services, supporting the 
staff and Board, and relationships with our partners 
and stakeholders. I cannot thank them enough for 
their outstanding professionalism in shouldering the 
load whilst providing quality services and operational 
excellence through a stressful time with an increased 
workload. The Board and QPP thanks Chris and Jane 
for their diligence, support and commitment.
 
I am delighted to announce the appointment of public 
health HIV expert Melissa Warner as our new Chief 
Executive Officer. Melissa has over 20 years’ HIV 
clinical and program delivery experience gained from 
diverse roles within NGOs, government organisations 
and clinical settings in Australia, the UK and Asia. 
The Board has assigned Melissa with the task of 
ensuring QPPs ongoing sustainability and ability to 
provide valuable services for people living with HIV 
in Queensland, which will involve diversifying QPP’s 
services and funding streams.
 
Finally, on behalf of the Board I would like to commend 
all QPP staff and volunteers on the valuable work they 
do in the program areas, including the contributions 
to Queensland and national research.
 
Following the resignations of Mark, Simon and Jime 
Lemoire during 2018/2019 and their significant 
contributions to QPP and the HIV sector, I invite you 
to read the Tribute section featured on pages 31-34.

president’s
report

Matt Hall
President
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chief executive
officer’s report

Melissa Warner 
Chief Executive Officer

I feel incredibly humbled by the opportunity to 
work with QPP’s Board and such a highly skilled, 
passionate, committed, and diverse team of staff and 
volunteers. I am excited to be a part of the next 
chapter and to uphold QPP’s legacy and championing 
the meaningful involvement of PLHIV to ensure our 
efforts are inclusive, responsive and connected to 
the needs and concerns of our communities.

I have spent the first couple of months meeting with 
the QPP staff, volunteers and members to develop a 
deeper understanding of the organisation. I would like 
to pay tribute to the vision and work of QPP. QPP’s 
innovation is demonstrated through RAPID’s highly 
successful community peer-led HIV and STI point of 
care testing program and the LIFE+ program, which 
utilises an integrated model of peer navigation, case 
management, stigma and discrimination services, and 
emergency funding support for PLHIV experiencing 
financial hardship. QPP’s contribution to research 
also demonstrates the organisations commitment 
to the importance of creating an evidence-base to 
advocate for services and funding.

The Board have tasked me with diversifying QPP 
services and funding into the future. In the year 
ahead, we will develop new partnerships and ways 
of working with our diverse communities to facilitate 
individuals and communities to lead. This will involve 
enhancing community engagement opportunities 
to ensure the centrality of the positive voice in 
informing the diversification agenda.

We are experiencing unprecedented demand on 
existing services, and I would like to acknowledge 
all that the staff achieve, despite the challenges of 
limited resources. I would also like to thank everyone 
for their generous support and patience as I find my 
way in my new role.

I LOOK FORWARD TO 
WORKING WITH YOU ALL
INTO THE FUTURE IN 
SUPPORTING, DEVELOPING 
AND DIVERSIFYING THE 
PROGRESSIVE AND
INNOVATIVE WORK THAT 
QPP PROVIDES.
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90%
DIAGNOSED

90%
ON TREATMENT

90%
VIRALLY
SUPRESSED

90%
WITH QUALITY
OF LIFE

QPP is committed to achieving the 90:90:90 
treatment targets and working towards the global 
goals of the ambitious UNAIDS report ‘Fast-Track: 
Ending AIDS by2030’. This report shapes and informs 
the strategy to eradicate stigma and discrimination 
surrounding HIV within this timeframe. Reaching 
these targets will require additional investment 
and focused efforts for both government, non-
government organisations and researchers. Investing 
in the epidemic now will help save money over the 
long term as UNAIDS estimates that $24 billion 
would be saved globally in future treatment costs. 
Hence, progress must be made during the next 
five years in order to remain on track to end AIDS 
by 2030. QPP is implementing this strategy at a 
statewide level, to achieve the targets for diagnosis, 
treatment and viral load by striving for the following 
outcomes:

QPP provides discreet, free and non-invasive HIV 
and STI testing service through our RAPID program, 
which offers a peer testing service that aims to engage 
with harder to reach populations and support the 
earlier diagnosis of HIV. QPP and RAPID also works 
alongside the Eighth National HIV Strategy. This 
Strategy includes culturally and linguistically diverse 
people from high HIV prevalence countries, people 
who travel to these countries, and their partners as 
significant and priority populaces1.

1 Department of Health Australian Government. Eighth National HIV 
Strategy 2018 – 2022; Commonwealth of Australia:
Canberra, ACT, 2018.

90% OF ALL PEOPLE 
LIVING WITH HIV WILL 
KNOW THEIR HIV 
STATUS
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Through our LIFE+ Program, QPP provides peer 
navigation, case management, legal support services 
and financial assistance for PLHIV experiencing 
financial hardship to address the social determinants 
of health that impact treatment initiation and 
retention in care.

LIFE+ staff work directly with PLHIV to deliver peer 
education and case management support. Individual 
action plans are developed to achieve identified 
goals and build personal skills to support the person 
to effectively self-manage their HIV, remain engaged 
with care and adherent to treatment.

As a community organisation for PLHIV it is critical 
that we address the rebalance of the biomedicalisation 
of HIV through the focus on treatment targets and 
recognise that PLHIV have health and social needs 
beyond undetectable viral load.

QPP would like to highlight that there is also a fourth 
90 i.e. 90-90-90-90. The fourth 90 focuses on health 
related quality of life. It is related to mental health, 
access to social and peer supports that facilitate 
health, wellbeing and social health.

QPP is committed to exploring ways in which we 
can support the broader needs of PLHIV beyond 
undetectable viral load to support health and social 
related quality of life.

90% OF ALL PEOPLE 
DIAGNOSED WITH 
HIV INFECTION WILL 
RECEIVE SUSTAINED 
ANTIRETROVIRAL 
THERAPY

A KEY COMPONENT OF CURRENT AUSTRALIAN HIV POLICY IS TO 
‘VIRTUALLY ELIMINATE’ HIV TRANSMISSIONS BY 2022, ENSURING 
‘NO ONE IS LEFT BEHIND’. THE EIGHTH NATIONAL HIV STRATEGY 
REITERATES THIS APPROACH.
 
DESPITE OUR SUCCESSES LOCALLY IN QUEENSLAND AND 
NATIONALLY, INCLUDING REDUCTIONS IN HIV DIAGNOSES, 
SUBSIDISED ACCESS TO PREP AND EFFECTIVE TREATMENT FOR 
PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV THROUGH THE PHARMACEUTICAL 
BENEFITS SCHEME, SOME CHALLENGES REMAIN.

90% OF ALL PEOPLE 
RECEIVING 
ANTIRETROVIRAL 
THERAPY WILL HAVE 
VIRAL SUPPRESSION

90% OF PLHIV WILL 
EXPERIENCE GOOD 
HEALTH RELATED 
QUALITY OF LIFE
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WHO WE ARE
QPP is a professional, peer-led and inclusive community organisation utilising 
multi-disciplinary teams committed to improving the quality of life of all PLHIV 
across Queensland since 1989.

HOW WE WORK
From governance to service provision, QPP encourages effective partnerships 
and provides collaborative, non-judgemental, compassionate and person-centred 
services in accordance with best practice.

OUR PRINCIPLES
Social Justice—We are committed to creating safe, supportive environments 
free stigma and discrimination that promote equity of access and empowerment 
of the individual.

STRATEGIC GOAL 01
Deliver innovative services for PLHIV that respond to the diversity 
of lived experience and regional disparities, improve quality of life, 
and acknowledge the social determinants of health.

1. Promote and empower individual self-determination and self-management 
of HIV.

2. Create supportive and inclusive environments that lead to earlier detection 
of HIV and STIs.

3. Promote the benefits of early uptake and continued use of treatments for 
long-term health and well-being.

4. Support access to appropriate services amongst ageing PLHIV to reduce the 
health impact of co-morbidities and promote healthy ageing.

5. Maximise use of accessible media and innovative technologies to improve 
health literacy and reduce geographic isolation.

STRATEGIC GOAL 02
Facilitate the delivery of peer based support services that meet the 
needs of the community.

1. Pro-actively consult with and represent PLHIV to ensure the lived 
experience informs service delivery.

2. Support and educate PLHIV with a focus on those newly diagnosed 
and those returning to care or at risk of falling out of care to navigate 
clinical and community care services.

3. Foster peer networks and linkages that improve social connectedness 
and reduce isolation.

4. Actively promote equality of access to clinical and related services in 
rural and remote settings, particularly amongst ageing PLHIV.

5. Recognise the changing funding landscape for HIV services and seek 
alternate and diversified income sources to reduce reliance on major 
funders.

STRATEGIC GOAL 04
Demonstrate an ongoing commitment to organisational 
best-practice.

1. Sustain a high quality workforce through the creation of a healthy and 
supportive work environment. 

2. Create responsive services that are informed by emerging trends; 
continuous quality improvement and the evaluation of outcomes 
across all aspects of service delivery.

3. Strengthen individual capacity of staff and board to meet personal and 
professional goals.

4. Implement models of governance that support high standards of 
leadership, sustainability of the organisation and diverse funding 
sources.

5. Strengthen relationships and understanding of QPP’s service model 
with key stakeholders and industry partners.

STRATEGIC GOAL 03
Reduce stigma and discrimination associated with HIV.

1. Deliver community education initiatives that increase awareness of HIV.

2. Support PLHIV experiencing stigma and discrimination whilst building 
personal resilience.

3. Identify and address systemic stigma and discrimination.

STRATEGIC 
PLAN 
2018–2021
OUR VISION
QPP seeks to create a safe supportive environment 
where people living with HIV (PLHIV) are well informed, 
experience a healthy quality of life free from stigma and 
discrimination, are empowered to enjoy increased levels 
of optimism, confidence and resilience, and have an active 
role in determining their future.

OUR MISSION
QPP is dedicated to leading the Queensland HIV 
response and facilitating access to a comprehensive range 
of services that promote the health and well-being of 
PLHIV in Queensland; uphold the MIPA principles; and are 
delivered in accordance with internationally recognised 
best practice.

Diversity—We embrace diversity in all its forms and the strength it 
brings to achieving our goals.

Meaningful Involvement of PLHIV (MIPA)—We recognise the 
powerful and unique contribution provided by the lived experience and 
pursue the meaningful involvement of PLHIV and all affected communities 
in all aspects of service delivery and research.

Self-determination—We deliver a comprehensive range of services 
that foster individual resilience and self-determination.

Quality & Innovation—We deliver services in accordance with 
evidence-based best practice and a commitment to collaboration and 
continuous quality improvement.
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QPP continues to engage and collaborate with state 
and national research institutions, government and 
other community based organisations to build an 
evidence base, which demonstrates the need and 
impact of the services we provide for people living 
with HIV. In addition, QPP focuses on research 
that seeks to better understand the needs of our 
communities and further our knowledge to ensure 
the services we provide are relevant and responsive 
to the needs of the communities we serve. Research 
Projects that QPP have collaborated on, or 
collaborated with over the past year include:

QPP is very excited to partner with the RISE Study 
at the Kirby Institute, which seeks to develop and 
implement systems to optimise treatment, care 
and support among people diagnosed with HIV, 
has been rolled out during this reporting period. 
QPP has contributed to the development of and is 
actively promoting and supporting recruitment to 
the RISE study for newly diagnosed people in 2019. 
It is hoped that the findings from RISE will assist with
enhancements to service provision for PLHIV into 
the future.

In collaboration with the University of Queensland 
(UQ), QPP, the Queensland Department of Health, 
and the University of New South Wales (UNSW), 
this research project is evaluating the performance 
of an extended and modified pooling methodology 
for Chlamydia and Gonorrhoea point of care testing 
using the GeneXpert machine.

The PozQoL study by the Australian Research 
Centre in Sex, Health and Society at La Trobe 
University has been developed in consultation 
with a variety of community organisations and is 
conducted in partnership with National Association 
of People with HIV Australia and ViiV Healthcare 
Australia. During early 2019, QPP was involved in 
the implementation trial of the quality of life measure 
(PozQoL) for PLHIV.

STUDY TO TEST THE USEFULNESS 
OF THE POZQOL SCALE IN 
ASSESSING THE QUALITY OF LIFE 
OF PLHIV IN AUSTRALIA

“RECENT DIAGNOSIS AND THE 
IMPACT OF SUPPORT ON THE 
EXPERIENCES
OF LIVING WITH HIV” – ‘RISE’

GENEXPERT
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qpp presents atIn partnership with the University of Queensland, 
Monash University and the University of New South 
Wales, this study aims to better understand factors
influencing uptake and adherence to HIV testing and 
treatment in diverse communities in Queensland.

Supporting Primary Health by Improving 
Engagement for Unique Populations in 
HIV Treatment and Care - Chris Howard for 
Australasian Society of HIV Medicine (ASHM), 
Sydney, October 2018

The role of Peer Navigators in Improving 
Patient Outcomes - Satrio Nindyo Isitko at Art 
of ART, Brisbane, May 2019

Positive Change for Positive People 
(Addressing Internalised Stigma) - Nathan 
Butler at Art of ART Brisbane May 2019

Peer Navigation: Stories of Peer Workers 
in HIV Sector - Satrio Istiko Nindyo, Nathan 
Butler, Lara Kruizing at, DIALOGUE Lived 
Experience Workforce Conference, Brisbane, May 
2019

From LGBTIQ International Students to 
Asylum Seekers: The impact of Peer
Navigation for People Living with HIV and 
Ineligible for Medicare in Queensland - 
Satrio Nindyo Istiko at AGMC GLBTI Multicultural 
Conference, Melbourne September 2018

In partnership with the University of Queensland, 
this project has undertaken an evaluation of our 
Peer Navigation program.

University of Queensland and QPP collaborated 
to research the lives of PLHIV who live rurally and 
regionally across Queensland. Please see the QPP 
website for more detail on these research projects 
in addition to a number of published co-authored 
research articles.

This program is a collaboration between QPP, the 
Queensland AIDS Council (QuAC), Open Doors 
and the University of Queensland. The project is 
explores the sexual health experiences and needs 
of gender variant and sexually diverse young 
peoplelly diverse young people living in regional and 
rural and how they access sexual health education, 
information, support and testing services.

“T2TQ: FACTORS INFLUENCING 
THE HIV TESTING TO TREATMENT 
TRAJECTORY WITHIN A
QUEENSLAND CONTEXT”

“CO-CONSTRUCTING CARE 
FOR PEOPLE WITH HIV: THE 
ROLE OF PEER NAVIGATION IN 
IMPROVING LINKAGE TO CARE”

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

“LIVING POSITIVE IN 
QUEENSLAND: A QUALITATIVE 
LONGITUDINAL STUDY OF 
AGING, PLACE AND SOCIAL 
ISOLATION (LPQ)”

POINT OF CARE HIV AND STI 
TESTING AT OPEN DOORS YOUTH 
SERVICE
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THE HONORABLE 
JUSTICE  MICHAEL KIRBY
During the year past, QPP has been engaged in many 
essential programs designed to provide support and 
strategic guidance. A number of achievements of the 
past year deserve special mention and praise

I praise and acknowledge the work of QPP and I 
thank all of those who have been involved in that 
work over the past year. In my opinion, QPP is 
deserving of support and praise on many grounds 
but especially:

Sincerely, 

Michael Kirby

Honorable Michael Kirby AC CMG

Patron of Queensland Positive People

QPP’s HIV and STI point of care testing 
program, case management, stigma, 
discrimination, peer navigation and emergency 
funding programs and services which have 
continued to grow and change in response to 
needs;

the RAPID HIV and STI community-based peer 
led point of care testing program has continued 
to dismantle barriers to testing for people who 
are living with HIV but unaware of their status;

improving self-management and health literacy 
amongst PLHIV;

trialing and subsequent appointment of 
integrated peer navigation and case management 
positions;

improving legal literacy, raising of awareness and 
understanding concerning legal issues and work 
with the police and legal systems;

recognising the importance of outreach to 
PLHIV and in particular older people with long-
term HIV; and

continuing to work closely with state and 
national research centres.

QPP is a peer led organisation that supports 
people across the whole continuum of care who 
must face HIV and its ongoing impact;

QPP is committed to mutual involvement with 
PLHIV. It increases its impact by engaging with 
the lived experience;

QPP is innovative in responding across all 
regions of Queensland to community needs;

QPP is a tireless advocate for individual and 
change of healthcare systems; and 

QPP is celebrating its 30th anniversary in 
November 2019. It is still growing and pushing 
the envelope fearlessly, but in the nicest possible 
way!
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executive
programs

manager
report

Over the past year, QPP has continued to deliver and 
further strengthen its suite of services and programs 
covering prevention, testing, treatment and care for 
people with HIV.

Our case management, RAPID testing clinic, stigma 
and discrimination and peer navigation programs 
have continued to grow, adapt, and innovate service 
delivery in response to the changing needs of the 
PLHIV communities we serve.

We have implemented a hub and spoke model 
of service provision expanding our geographic 
footprint to reach PLHIV wherever they reside 
across Queensland. This model enables our teams 
to provide peer navigation/testing, case management 
and stigma and discrimination services providing 
regular outreach to urban, regional and rural 
locations. Additional funding provided by Queensland 
Health enabled QPP to expand services in North 
Queensland with two peer case management 
positions. Our office ‘hubs’ are located in Cairns, 
Mackay, Nambour, Beenleigh and Brisbane.

An exciting development this past year was trialling 
and subsequent appointment of an integrated Peer 
Navigation and case management positon, titled 
Peer Treatment Facilitator (PTF). PTF’s are PLHIV 
who possess a broad range of skills and qualifications 
providing peer navigation and/or case management 
support.

Stigma and discrimination continues to be a 
significant challenge for our community with high 
numbers of people provided with case management 
support for HIV related stigma and discrimination. 
QPP launched the ‘Disclosing Your HIV Status’ guide 
in partnership with the HIV AIDS Legal Centre 
(HALC). RAPID’s popularity as a trusted peer led 
HIV/STI testing service continues to grow due to the 
ease of access and the creation of an environment 
that is non-shaming, free of stigma and sex positive. 

QPP recognises the importance of social connection 
for PLHIV and in particular older people living long 
term with HIV. We secured a small grant from the 
Brisbane City Council to consult with the community 
and develop a framework for a volunteer social 
visiting scheme for PLHIV over 50 years of age. 

This past year we said good-bye to a number 
of key program staff and most of these will be 
addressed in the Tribute section. However, we 
wanted to acknowledge Sharna Quigley, Stigma and 
Discrimination Officer as part of the team who left 
QPP. Sharna had been with QPP since 2013 and 
made a number of significant contributions including:

case management support for people 
experiencing HIV related stigma and/or 
discrimination;

development of the ‘Disclosing Your HIV Status’ 
guide;

project lead for the ‘Talking about Stigma’ film 
series;

working group member, speaker and panelist 
for ASHM’s ‘Beyond Blame - Challenging HIV 
Criminalisation’, ‘Risky Business? Perspectives of 
HIV in the legal

landscape’, ‘Real Conversations of Grindr’; co-
author of QPP’s Human Rights ACT submission;

member of the National HIV Legal Working 
group; and 

participation on other advocacy agenda’s 
including social justice, HIV criminalisation and 
human rights.

We thank Sharna for her passion, professionalism, 
expertise and genuine desire to address social 
injustices as they relate to HIV.

Chris Howard- Executive Programs Manager
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executive
operations

manager
report

Operations Team is the foundation of QPP, 
assisting the organisation to be better equipped to 
meet the current and future needs of PLHIV. We 
do this by evaluating the use of data and quality 
feedback to develop and implement integrated 
systems and policy, administrative and financial 
systems, accreditation, human resources, website 
maintenance and innovation to align with best 
practice. We do this with the use of evidence based 
policy and organisational infrastructure to support 
sustainable funding for our state-wide organisation.

‘Working smarter - not harder for better 
organisational outcomes’ became the mantra for the 
Operations Team in 2018/2019. We have achieved 
a collective understanding of challenges, culture and 
an agreement to strive for improvement, always. 
Work Health and Safety (WHS) became a target 
for our team this year. Being such an extensive and 
important subject, training was required and we now 
have three of our team with a Certificate IV in WHS. 
As a result, we have established a WHS committee 
that meet regularly to assess and evaluate, perform 
audits, preserve safe working environments and 
report to the Executive Team.

Property Management has been a key focus this year 
as the lease on the location of our RAPID clinic was 
ending in May. As the primary leaseholder for the Ann 
Street, Fortitude Valley building, along with RAPID, 
we also accommodate other organisations such as 
Queensland Injectors Health Network (QuIHN), 
Diverse Voices, the Australasian Society for HIV, Viral 
Hepatitis and Sexual Health Medicine and the LGBTI 
Legal Service. This has become quite the community 
hub and we have enjoyed the partnerships and 
connections this has enabled. We see great worth 
and potential in maintaining this network of friendly 
services, so started an exhaustive process of 
sourcing other rental properties to ensure we had 
the best option on the table for our community. 
Queensland Health generously engaged a real estate 

agent to assist us with this search and together we 
finally negotiated a better three-year deal on our 
existing property with an option for another three-
year term, seeing us and our community hub well 
in to the future. Queensland Health also assisted us 
financially to rectify significant maintenance issues, 
like air conditioning, that were simply unattainable 
in the past.

During this year, we recruited, appointed and 
trained our Organisational Administrator Will, after 
our previous, Carla, left to pursue her public health 
goals with the Queensland Department of Health. 
We have also welcomed Maddie for short-term 
project work to support the organisation achieve 
its goals. We cannot forget the generosity of our 
most wonderful volunteers that have joined us over 
the past year for which we are grateful. , We are 
also proud to say some of the volunteers have found 
employment opportunities here at QPP.

The Operations Team also wants to thank the whole 
QPP team, our community and beyond, for allowing 
us the opportunity to provide a healthier and 
improved way of working. Thank you for motivating 
us with the desire to achieve and therefore ultimately, 
enabling this incredible organisation to inspire the 
voice of the lived experience, to instil hope, to 
achieve success and maintain connection with our 
community.

“WORDS MEAN MORE 
THAN WHAT IS SET DOWN 
ON PAPER. IT TAKES THE 
HUMAN VOICE TO INFUSE 
THEM WITH DEEPER 
MEANING.” 
- MAYA ANGELOU

Jane Copeland Executive Operations Manager and William Triste 
Operational Adminstrator
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RAPID - now in its fifth year of operation, has had 
another incredibly successful year, continuing to 
operate an HIV and STIs asymptomatic screening 
service run by trained peers. Initially a research pilot 
sought to establish the feasibility of HIV point of 
care testing before such testing was TGA approved. 
The service has since expanded to offer screening 
for HIV, Syphilis, Chlamydia, and Gonorrhoea. In its 
design, RAPID targets those who are disengaged 
from existing sexual health services, and service 
experiences reflect significant popularity with 
several priority populations. RAPID’s public health 
intervention and measured methodology has been 
key in achieving its efficacy. RAPID also prides itself on 
being a safe space for PLHIV to comfortably disclose 
their status without fear of judgement or stigma. 
In doing so, we hope to dismantle the barriers to 
STI testing that PLHIV face. This enables RAPID to 
better meet the needs of all PLHIV, offering testing 
services that are relevant and appropriate for this 
population. Being an organisation that advocates for 
the rights and wellbeing of PLHIV, we believe this is 
a vital component of the service we deliver.

This past financial year saw great diversity in our 
clientele, with several priority populations identified in 
the Fourth National Sexually Transmissible Infections 
Strategy (2018 - 2022) engaging with RAPID for 
their sexual health needs. HIV can affect anyone, and 
our clients are a heterogeneous mix. They include 
heterosexual women, Medicare ineligible people, 
and young people, amongst others. This positions 
RAPID to advance literacy and understanding of HIV 
science – with particular regard to undetectable viral 
load – to a varied group of individuals. Corollary to 
this, those of whom are often overlooked with HIV 
health promotion messaging, come to RAPID and 
learn of the lived experience of HIV in its modern 
form. Such catalyses the understanding of the lived 
experience in broader society, dismantling HIV stigma 
and misconceptions. This represents significant work 
in ameliorating inequities in sexual health knowledge 
for all, in a climate where HIV education is largely 
focused on men who have sex with men (MSM).

5 YEARS ON AND TESTING 
NUMBERS CONTINUE TO GROW.
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The attendance of MSM at RAPID has continued to 
increase – with this population accounting for the 
highest proportion of occasions of service numbers. 
The service regards this as a significant achievement, 
as the testing landscape is shifting with the uptake of 
HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) and significant 
numbers of PLHIV accessing care.
We can thus demonstrate an ability to respond 
to changes in epidemiological trends of HIV 
and shifts in public health priorities. Indeed, our 
philosophy and testing approach are well suited to 
supporting conventional priority populations; but 
often underappreciated, it has also demonstrated 

appeal to those of unconventional populations 
who experience significant risk of HIV acquisition. 
For example, straight-identifying male clients have 
disclosed they regularly engage in unprotected sex 
with other men, and/or in brothels in countries 
of high HIV prevalence. Our non-judgmental, sex-
positive approach has been key to such disclosures, 
and our service has actively referred these clients 
to medical practitioners to explore their suitability 
for HIV PrEP. Thus, RAPID actively works towards 
improving access to the provision of HIV prevention 
tools for all – not just MSM.

Looking forward, the next financial year will see 
RAPID continue to expand service delivery, offering 
on-site treatment for some bacterial STIs. In 
partnership with both the Brisbane Sexual Health 
and HIV Service and the Metro North Public Health 
Unit, RAPID will host a clinical nurse and outreach 
STI treatment clinic in Fortitude Valley. This initiative 
is an opportunity to action a response to client 
feedback and tailor the service to further meet their 
needs. Additionally, it is hoped this will improve 
clinical outcomes for our clients: it will likely reduce 
time to treatment and limit numbers of those lost 

to follow up. As the testing landscape changes, it 
becomes increasingly vital for RAPID to increase its 
coverage across the spectrum of care. Clients prefer 
a ‘one-stop-shop’ for their sexual health needs. 
Therefore, HIV and STI testing can no longer exist 
in isolation. Expanding service delivery to include 
the provision of treatment will ensure RAPID stays 
relevant to priority populations, and thus, aid the 
service in meeting its obligations under the UN 
AIDS 90-90-90 targets and diagnosis and treatment 
of STIs.
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Lastly, on behalf of the RAPID team, 
we want to thank and acknowledge the 
tremendous efforts of Jime Lemoire, 
RAPID’s former program manager, for his 
phenomenal work in building the RAPID 
service into what it is today. Without 
his leadership, innovation and brilliance 
the service would not exist. Jime was an 
incredible visionary, boss and close friend 
to all of us. We wish him all the best with 
his future endeavors.

RAPID 
CLIENTS 
RECEIVED 
HIV AND STI 
TESTING IN 
2018/2019

From left to right, Izriel Durkin, Robert Gordon, Adam Finch, Cassio Oliveira and Luke Coffey with Emile Canita in centre.

19

q p p  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  1 8 / 1 9



Gain voting rights at our Annual General 
Meeting

Attain eligibility to be a sitting Board 
Member of QPP

Never miss out on events specifically 
targeting people living with HIV

Consultation and participation

And much more!

Be kept informed on all the latest national 
and international news about HIV

Have more opportunities to meet and 
connect with other people living with HIV

IF YOU RESIDE IN QUEENSLAND 
AND ARE LIVING WITH HIV…
Join QPP in supporting the delivery of 
Queensland-wide services for people living with 
HIV. Membership is free, and as an ordinary 
member, you will:

To become a member, just give us a quick call on 
1800 636 241, or email us at  
memberservices@qpp.org.au and ask for a 
membership form to be sent to you today.
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TREATMENT SUPPORT
LIFE+ peer navigators and case managers provide 
support using a case management approach to assist 
clients to overcome barriers facilitating ongoing 
engagement with HIV treatment and care. Our 
team understands that pressures and overwhelming 
circumstances can cause anyone of us to lose focus 
on our health and wellbeing, including our HIV 
care and treatment. Our program offers outreach 
engagement; meeting people in the community, 
homes or at a location where the client feels most 
safe and supported.
 
The program typically assists individuals to overcome, 
or link with assistance, for stressors and barriers to 
engagement with HIV care and treatment such as: 

Trauma experiences and stressors

Homelessness/unstable housing

Re-connecting with independence following 
release from correctional settings

Substance misuse

Financial hardship

Debts

Legal or immigration issues relating to HIV.
  
An exciting complement to the Treatment Support 
case management program in this past 12 months is 
a new role titled Peer Treatment Facilitator. These 
are peer workers, able to provide case management 
support as well as peer navigation and the valuable 
shared experience of living with HIV.  We are very 
fortunate so far to have three positions Queensland 
- the first based in Brisbane and two new positions 
in Cairns.

Another area of change in the past 12 months has 
been increasing referrals for support to women 
during pregnancy, and support for adolescents living 
with HIV transitioning from pediatric to adult care.

A number of women referred have children, which 
creates transport challenges for case managers 
ensuring support for these mums to attend health 
and antenatal care appointments. Funded community 
transport providers do not transport children. Camp 

Goodtime occurs each year in NSW, providing an 
environment for young people (up to 8yo) to attend 
an annual camp for the benefit of gaining knowledge, 
emotional, social and peer support.

Although we are unable to offer a similar camp 
in Queensland, a small peer group was developed 
in Brisbane to provide information/education 
interventions to increase knowledge and self-
management for living with HIV as these young 
people move towards adulthood. Peer navigators 
and case managers are connected with the young 
people and their families at various times during the 
group meetings, and available for ongoing assistance 
where needs were identified for further support.

Luke Caspar (left) and Melania Mugamu (right) Peer Treatment 
Facilitators, Cairns.
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Over recent years, there has been an increase in HIV 
diagnosis among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
in North Queensland. In November 2017, the Queensland 
Sexual Health Ministerial Advisory Committee conducted 
a HIV Roundtable meeting in Cairns to explore the issue 
of increased HIV diagnoses among Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people. A report generated from that meeting 
advised: ‘It is valuable to include a section that speaks to 
the consultation and engagement with Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander PLHIV to understand their unique lived 
experiences and their cultural and other needs as they relate 
to the HIV continuum of care.’
 
In recognition of this statement and the principles embedded 
in the Meaningful Involvement of PLHIV/AIDS (MIPA), QPP 
identified that it was vitally important to work alongside in 
partnership with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander PLHIV 
to help inform QPP and the broader HIV sector on the 
unique needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander PLHIV. 
QPP partnered with the national Positive Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Network (PATSIN) and successfully 
gained funding from ViiV Healthcare Community Grants for 
the project.
  
A key deliverable of the project is to hold a residential 
workshop for Queensland Aboriginal and Torres Islander 
PLHIV both newly diagnosed and living longer term with HIV. 
The residential workshop will be facilitated by a professional 
Indigenous facilitator and aims to bring both men and women 
together in a culturally appropriate and safe place. The 
workshop aims to provide the opportunity to meet other 
PLHIV in an environment for collective healing and self- 
expression, for participants to yarn on important issues in 
relation to living with HIV and experiences of treatment and 

care. The anticipated outcomes will be improved social and 
cultural connection, engagement in peer and social support 
networks and increased knowledge of HIV treatment care 
and support for participants.
 
Workshop participants will also be invited to make a series of 
recommendations for QPP and other HIV service providers 
about practical and culturally appropriate ways in which we 
can effectively support and engage Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander PLHIV through the HIV care continuum.
  
An integral and critically important aspect of this project has 
been the formation of an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
PLHIV Steering Group. The steering group is comprised of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander PLHIV including people 
newly diagnosed, people living longer term and those with 
experience working in the Queensland HIV sector. The 
steering group will provides cultural guidance and support 
and assist in the development of functional aspects of the 
workshop and provide guidance to support implementation 
of the project.
 
QPP would also like to pay tribute to the outstanding 
contribution of Andrew Shepard ‘Sheppy’ who sadly passed 
shortly after leaving QPP. ‘Sheppy’ was employed by QPP 
as Peer Project Officer to work on the project. He was a 
key driver on the steering group and a passionate advocate 
and supporter of his people. ‘Sheppy’ is sadly missed by 
the members of the steering group and the community he 
served.

‘Sheppy’ leaves a lasting legacy that will be honoured through 
the delivery of this valuable project.

From left to right: 
Arone Meeks, 
Damien Martin, 
Michelle Tobin, 
Chris Howard 
(QPP) and Michael 
Brown

‘INCREASING ENGAGEMENT IN HIV TREATMENT FOR ABORIGINAL 
AND TORRES STRAIT PLHIV IN QUEENSLAND’.
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Jason Radcliffe QPP 
Public Health Officer 
(left) & Penelope 
Marshall, Clinical 
Nurse Consultant 
(right) Sexual Health 
& HIV Service - 
Sunshine Coast 
Hospital and Health
Service

In the latter stages of 2018, QPP obtained funding to 
deliver a syphilis awareness campaign to help address 
the rapidly rising rates of syphilis in Queensland. In 
collaboration with the Queensland AIDS Council 
(QuAC), the ‘Let’s Treat Syphilis’ campaign was 
planned and began rolling out in early March 2019. 

The campaign aims to raise awareness with MSM 
and HIV+ MSM with the following key messages:

Transmission risks (oral, anal and any skin to skin 
sexual practices) and re-infection; 

Asymptomatic nature and how 
to recognise symptoms;  

Importance of testing every 3 months;  

Importance of prompt treatment; and the

Critical role of partner notification and available 
support.

 
The campaign involves intensive, geo-population 
targeted health promotion and advertising via 
a broad range of promotion avenues, such as 

hook up applications, sexual media, social media, 
websites, community press media, convenience 
advertising, sexual health and LGBTIQ and 
HIV friendly clinics, and community events etc. 

Application banners and digital advertisements 
are being circulated on Grindr, Squirt, Facebook, 
Instagram and Divas Chat until the end of October 
2019. All of which link to the ‘Let’s Treat Syphilis’ 
webpage, from which individuals are able to locate 
their nearest testing centres (using a clinic finder 
tool), learn more about syphilis and order free 
condoms.
 
Stakeholder engagement is was a critical aspect of the 
project and focus groups were consulted throughout 
the development of all campaign resources. Posters, 
t-shirts and condom packaging were all produced 
for increased promotion. QPP and QuAC have 
also partnered with the South Australia Health and 
Medical Research Institute (SAHMRI) to co- brand 
two posters from the Young, Deadly, Syphilis Free 
campaign targeting young Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people in regional, rural and remote 
areas across Australia.
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Peer Navigation is a structured peer intervention 
aiming to provide educational, emotional, and 
social support for people newly diagnosed, re- 
engaging with care or at risk of falling out of 
care. It is an innovative community program, the 
first of its kind in the HIV sector in Australia. 
Peer Navigators are trained to provide peer 
education and support across Queensland. 

We currently have a diverse team of 8  Peer 
Navigators across metropolitan and regional areas.

We continue to innovate with the integration 
of Peer Navigation with other QPP programs. 
The Peer Treatment Facilitator role combines 
both Peer Navigation and Treatment and 
Support Facilitation while Peer Navigator/
Peer Testing Facilitator provides ease of access 
to peer support during pre- and post- HIV 
diagnosis.

QPP has have also established stronger 
relationships with other peer workers in HIV 
and other sectors, especially in mental health 
and refugee health network.

Number of PLHIV Supported by Peer Navigators

Total Clients
Peer Navigation
Cairns and Hinterland 11

Central Queensland 3

Darling Downs 2

Gold Coast 10

Mackay 1

Metro North 20

Metro South 17

Sunshine Coast 1

Torres and Cape 1

Townsville 4

West Moreton 3

Stigma and Discrimination
Metro North 1

Treatment Support
Darling Downs 2

Metro North 2

Metro South 2

Total LIFE+ Clients 80
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Peer Navigation was profiled by the Australian 
Federation of AIDS Organisations (AFAO) 
for the World AIDS Day Booklet, which was 
circulated to Members of Parliament and 
stakeholders.

Implementation of the recommendations from 
the Peer Navigation Quality Improvement 
Report.

We will soon see the release of the Peer 
Navigation evaluation outcomes conducted by 
the University of Queensland.

Establishment of support groups and/or 
workshops for newly diagnosed PLHIV, including 
those who have completed Peer Navigation 
program.

The year in review 2017-2018: Coming Up:

The following graph highlights the outcomes for clients 
working with Peer Navigators on exit of service or program.

Case Management

Peer Navigation
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Strongly Agree Agree Neither Agree or Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree

Client Feedback: I am satis�ed with the service I have received from QPP. (%)

Client Feedback: As a result of the support I received from QPP,
I feel I’m better able to self-manage the issues that I sought help for. (%)

Client Feedback: QPP listened to me and understood my issues. (%)

Daryl Smith, Peer Treatment Facilitator (left) and Nathan Butler Project Officer (right)
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life+ stigma and discrimination
DISCLOSING YOUR HIV STATUS

On Monday, 18 March 2019, QPP formally launched 
the ‘Disclosing Your HIV Status Guide’, which has 
been prepared and updated in partnership with the 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre (HALC).

Alexandra Stratigos, Principal Solicitor, presented a 
legal education seminar, which included an outline 
and explanation of legal problems facing PLHIV.

The guide contains concise information regarding 
the relevant law on disclosure of HIV status, as it 
applies in Queensland, and navigating disclosure.

We thank Thomson Geer Lawyers for hosting the 
launch event at their Brisbane Office.

Left: Chris Howard (Executive Programs Manager, QPP) and Alexandra Stratigos (Principal Solicitor, HALC)
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Satrio Nindyo Istiko Peer Navigator Team Leader

LIFE+ STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION PROGRAM

STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION INITIATIVES

The LIFE+ Stigma and Discrimination Program 
provides support for PLHIV who experience stigma, 
discrimination or other HIV related legal problems 
affecting their quality of life, that may include 
discrimination complaints, unauthorised disclosure, 
legal and migration matters.

The Stigma and Discrimination Case Manager 
works to improve legal literacy of PLHIV and raising 
awareness and understanding of HIV related legal 

issues, rights and obligations. The case manager 
assesses individuals for legal support needs and 
supports referral and access to, legal and migration 
services.

Case management and client-centered support for 
PLHIV to identify and overcome barriers, which 
negatively affect their ability to commence and/or 
maintain HIV treatment and care while also achieving 
improved health and wellbeing outcomes.

Assist and support economically disadvantaged 
PLHIV (including people from vulnerable social 
and cultural backgrounds) who wish to access 
legal services for HIV related legal matters. 

Development of a legal literacy project aimed 
at promoting legal HIV literacy and challenging 
criminal legislation by engaging key stakeholders 
in Queensland around the new science of 
treatment as prevention. Additionally, to identify 
existing policies regarding criminal prosecutions 
involving HIV and reducing related HIV stigma 
and discrimination. 

QPP translated the Medicare Ineligible 
Factsheet, for visitors who are not eligible for 
a Medicare Card, into 5 languages (including 
Amharic, Chinese, Portuguese, Spanish and 
Swahili) providing information about options for 
obtaining HIV treatment and medical healthcare 
during their stay in Australia and support 
options available in Queensland. 

The HIV and immigration template - to support 
clinicians who have patients living with HIV 
applying for a permanent visa resource was 
developed in collaboration with the Medicare 
Ineligible Working Group and Freedom 
Migration. 

Our Stigma and Discrimination program 
provided support to migrants and refugees living 
with HIV in Queensland, including provision 
of information at an enquiry level, referrals to 
other services and casework support.

Attendance and representation in the LGBTI+ 
Community Consultative Group, created to 
increase understanding and ensure effective 
communications between the Queensland 
Police Services and organisations that support 
and represent members of the LGBTI+ 
communities.
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QPP’s social groups are community-led and 
coordinated to facilitate social connection among 
PLHIV in Queensland. Peer Group Coordinators, 
through collaboration and consultation with local 
PLHIV, plan events and coordinate activities that 
meet the needs of their communities.

QPP recognises and values the importance of social 
connection for PLHIV as a mechanism through which 
quality of life and social wellbeing can be enhanced.
QPP supports these activities through self-generated 
funding and donations.

The Women’s Connection Circle celebrated the 
National Day of Women Living with HIV on 16th 
March 2019 through group painting and a morning 
tea celebration.

More than 400 participants attended QPP’s social 
groups across Queensland during the reporting 
period.

QPP WILL CONTINUE TO 
FOCUS ON CREATIVE AND 
SUSTAINABLE VOLUNTEER-
LED ACTIVITIES AND/OR 
PROGRAMS THAT PROVIDE 
MORE OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
SOCIAL ENGAGEMENTS.

MORE THAN

PARTICIPANTS
400
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‘Planet Positive’ is an HIV+ peer and social 
support event open to PLHIV and their 
family/carers/friends supporters. Planet 
Positive events were originally established 
in Sydney and Melbourne. QPP was keen 
to follow suit and established regular 
Planet Positive events in Brisbane since 
2006.

QPP has always intentionally included 
family / carers / friends / supporters 
of PLHIV as eligible attendees. Firstly, 
QPP acknowledges that attending one’s 
first Planet Positive may be daunting for 
some people, and being able to have a 
supporter accompany them would go 
some way to reducing anxiety for some 
PLHIV. Secondly, and importantly, this 

meant that being in attendance at a 
Planet Positive event, did not necessarily 
mean that one was HIV+, and therefore 
confidentiality was easier to maintain. In 
a further attempt to respect the diversity 
of the PLHIV community and encourage 
as many PLHIV as possible. QPP has 
maintained a ‘policy’ to hold Planet 
Positive events at non-gay venues.

Planet Positive occurs quarterly as a point 
of connection, is a fun ‘night out’ and 
ultimately provides a safe space for PLHIV 
and their family/friends to enjoy a sense 
of well-being and inclusion from a social 
support opportunity. For information on 
any of QPP’s events please see the QPP 
website.
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THE WORKFORCE OF TOMORROW

STUDENTS

12
OVER

MONTHS

QPP is committed to developing the HIV workforce 
and offering opportunities for students to learn and 
contribute to the work of QPP as we strive to realise 
the organisation’s vision and mission.  
  
Over the  past 12 months, QPP has hosted four 
students from three academic institutions across a 
number of different disciplines.    
 
Owen O’Neil and Kathleen Seto,  studying a 
Masters of Applied Psychology, University of 
Queensland continued to support the development 
of  peer-led stigma reduction workshops including 
content, evaluation measures,  screening tools and 
processes. The project funded by  ViiV Healthcare 
focused on  the delivery of  Peer Led Stigma 
Reduction Interventions including workshops and a 
Peer Navigation Module. 

In addition, Katy  and Owen co-facilitated  delivery 
of workshops in Brisbane and  Rockhampton  with 
Nathan Butler  also  undertaking his placement 
with QPP for a Diploma of Community Services with 
Queensland TAFE. Nathan has been supporting the 
project both as student and Peer Project Officer.  
 
QPP would like to gratefully acknowledge and thank 
all of these students for their passion, commitment 
and contribution to the work of QPP in support of 
PLHIV.

Left to Right: Owen James, Kathleen Seto and Nathan Butler - Stigma Project
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SIMON MARK JIME

In this section of the QPP Annual Report 2018/2019, we would like to pay tribute 
to the significant contributions of Simon O’Connor - former Chief Executive 
Officer, Mark Counter - former QPP President and Jime Lemoire - former 
Executive RAPID Program Manager. These leaders and their individual dynamic 
energies have influenced the QPP we all know today. The legacy of what they 
leave behind cannot be measured in mere words but we hope this tribute serves 
to demonstrate our gratitude and our respect for their respective successes. We 
are humbled and mindful of what we inherit from their personal and professional 
commitment to the HIV sector and QPP. Their values and dedication in advocating 
for PLHIV and shaping the broader communities in Queensland will be forever 
etched into QPP.
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SIMON    DIPLOMAT, COLLABORATOR  
AND ACTIVIST

In the 1980’s, Simon O’Connor was a senior flight 
attendant working out of Sydney and globetrotting 
around the world in style. Then in the early 90’s, 
after a few personal life awakenings, including his 
HIV diagnosis, he fell in love with the balmy beaches, 
blue skies and relaxing lifestyle of the Sunshine Coast 
and he very spontaneously moved within a couple 
of weeks. In 1997, Simon began volunteering at the 
Queensland AIDS Council (QuAC) before joining 
QPP as the Sunshine Coast Convenor. Since then, he 
has been an integral part of the journey in standing 
up to stigma and discrimination and advocating for 
the rights of PLHIV with passion, dedication and a 
little mischievousness here and there. Simon, with 
his natural ability to connect with people, network 
and build relationships became the inaugural QPP 
General Manager. QPP has grown in response to the 
changing needs of the positive community; gaining 
its incorporation and then, with Simon at the helm, 
charitable status, the establishment of memberships; 
and the organisational restructure and development 
of a peer-led Board.

“When I became the General Manager, QPP was 
perceived to be a predominately gay white man’s 
organisation. There was a perception of limited 
inclusion of pos women, pos hetero men, pos trans 
people, pos Indigenous or culturally and linguistically 
diverse people, and I wanted to change that. QPP 
had to be for all PLHIV and a celebration of our rich 
diversity”. 

Simon coordinated the moves from crumbling 
structures and collapsing ceilings at the rented Vulture 
Street premises; overseeing the establishment of 
bases across South East and North Queensland; 
co-locating with QuAC and Positive Directions; to 
buying and renovating the Manilla Street building 
in Brisbane. He has also supported countless 
community gatherings, events and consultations; built 
partnerships; obtained funding; restructured; and 
recruited staff. Simon is also the co-founder of The 
HOPE Fund, and has supported the administration 
of funds raised passionately by the community with 
the highest standards of integrity.

“Some of my proudest moments were when David 
Bermingham and I co-founded The HOPE Fund to 

provide practical support for PLHIV experiencing 
financial difficulties and when QPP received funding 
to buy its own building. This meant so much for us 
as an organisation.

It meant security and it meant the government really 
trusted us. I also pride our ability to remain bi- 
partisan as an organisation. It was about maintaining 
the integrity of the organisation to ensure we always 
had a voice at the table”.

Simon has served on too many Boards and Ministerial 
Advisory Committees at both Queensland and 
national levels to mention and there have been so 
many celebrations, challenges and anniversaries.

However, one event that stands out for Simon, 
was the first HIV positive Women’s conference, 
where 40+ women came together from around 
Queensland to connect, heal, tell their stories and 
build upon relationships.

QPP’s vital transition from solely peer support to 
also incorporate service provision was another 
significant milestone in the organisation’s history.
Simon remains passionate about the injustice of 
stigma and the criminalisation of HIV and while semi- 
retirement has beckoned, Simon is still representing 
the body positive on the NAPWHA Board and 
Queensland HIV Advisory Panel.

It was precisely because Simon could open his heart 
-- because he could be so full of good humour, even 
mischievousness, despite the organisational duties 
--that endeared him so. In the arc of his time at/
with QPP, we see a man who earned his place in 
QPP history through struggle and discernment, and 
persistence and good faith with composure. All the 
staff and Board would like to wish him well in his 
future endeavours - be that sitting on the veranda 
with a good ‘red’ or, setting the Twitter world afire 
with his satire, devotion to social justice and human 
rights activism.

QPP and the community are forever grateful to him 
for his seventeen years of commitment, passion, 
dedication and comradery.
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MARK    CONCEPTUALISER, VISIONARY 
AND STATESMAN

Mark Counter was Estee Lauder’s youngest ever 
National Sales Manager when he was diagnosed with 
HIV in 1985. Mark moved to Queensland in 1989, 
and began working as a volunteer for the Queensland 
AIDS Council (QuAC), then quickly carved out the 
life of an HIV Policy Officer, providing advice to the 
Queensland Government.

Mark served on state and national committees and 
acted as an advocate for several high-profile anti-
discrimination cases. He joined Queensland Health 
in 1996 for a three-month stint to help them 
review their internal policies, and upon realising the 
effectiveness of influencing government from the 
inside; he ended up staying 17 years.

“One of my proudest achievements was being 
central to the decision to allocate dedicated funds 
to a ‘peer led’ PLHIV organisation in Queensland, 
and rapidly assisting QPP to become incorporated 
in time to apply for those funds. Hence the QPP we 
know today was born”.

Mark also became a very public face for HIV around 
this time with his monthly full-page column in 
Queensland Pride(including photo) about HIV called 
“Positively Living”, plus frequent television, radio and 
newspaper stories.

“I felt it was essential to try to reduce stigma and 
discrimination by putting a public face on HIV. My 
goal with the column was as much to educate people 
who were still HIV negative as it was to provide 
hope and information to those who were newly 
positive. I thought if I could come out to the whole 
state, maybe it would inspire someone to have the 
confidence to come out to their family or friends”.

Mark’s work was soon noticed on a national 
level and in 1994 he was elected as President of 
NAPWHA, and then eventually ended up serving on 
the Executive of the Australian Federation of AIDS 
Organisations (AFAO), on the Board and as a Life 
Member of QuAC, the Queensland Chief Health 
Officer’s HIV Advisory Committee and the National 
Disability Advisory Council.

Mark retired from Queensland Health in 2013, and 
finally with no direct conflict of interest was invited 
onto the QPP Board where he assumed the role of 
President.

“It was a nice way to finish my time in the HIV 
sector and a great pleasure to work directly with 
all the dedicated staff who work at QPP. We 
reinvented ourselves from an advocacy organisation 
into a service provider. As medicine continues to 
solve the public health challenges of HIV, advocacy 
becomes less important and will attract less funding. 
Governments however still need to provide services 
to those of us already living or still at risk of HIV 
so QPP’s RAPID and LIFE+ programs securely 
place them fairly and squarely in the middle of the 
Queensland response. I would like to think QPP is 
even further enhanced than when I arrived.”

As President, Mark has provided a governance 
perspective and delivered his responsibilities 
incisively, in ways, unparalleled in the NGO sector. His 
astute knowledge of policy has been transformative 
in the development of much of QPP’s Policies 
and Procedures and his vision for diversification, 
funding opportunities and his “forward thinking” 
framework has laid a foundation for QPP in which 
the organisation will strive and evolve for years to 
come. QPP staff and Board would like to take this 
opportunity to thank him for his years of unpaid 
work and dedication. We hope his rose garden 
blossoms with scents and colours that invigorate 
and inspire him and partner Phil, just as he has done 
for QPP.

“I never envisioned how much that doctor’s 
appointment at 1.30 on May 15 1985 would 
change my life, but it has been a remarkable and 
transformative journey. It has been my absolute 
pleasure and privilege to be able to contribute 
over 30 years of my life to the cause, but now my 
much neglected and long-suffering partner, Phil, my 
rose garden, my veggie garden, and my chooks and 
geese get to take centre stage. All the best to you 
all and thanks for your friendship, and all the great 
memories.”
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JIME    CRITICAL THINKER, 
REVOLUTIONARY AND ETHICIST

Last and certainly not least, we would also like to 
thank and acknowledge Jime Lemoire, who joined 
us in the Queensland HIV sector after moving to 
Queensland from Canada in 2013.

Jime worked within the HIV Public Health Team and 
Positive Directions before joining QPP, where he led 
the creation, establishment and vision of discreet, 
easy, free, peer-led rapid HIV and STI testing for 
everyone. With his education and counselling skills; 
attention to detail with training, clinical, governance 
standards; ethics and political values; the RAPID 
testing program we know today was born.

“Whatever your story, get tested and carry on…
no judgement of your sexual behaviour and/or drug 
use.”

Jime established an improbable and yet exciting 
fusion of service delivery with an equal commitment 
to a belief in the self-responsibility of those offering 
testing, as peers. He did this within a Non-Hegemonic 
Framework that RAPID still works with today. A 
model where resistance to stigma and discrimination 
for PLHIV, racism, sexism, classism, homophobia, 
transphobia and all forms of oppression alongside 
body and sex positive models of practice are 
integrated. This was enacted horizontally rather than 
a top down approach, where everyone participated 
in the dialogue and the learnings.

Additionally, due to Jime’s interest and desire for 
evidence based research in the HIV and testing 
sphere, he developed partnerships with universities 
for several innovative testing and research programs. 
He did so, amid many obstacles and challenges with 
energy, dedication and a relentless passion for peer 
testing for which he has become renowned in HIV 
academia and health arenas, both nationally and 
internationally. Jime’s engagement with data and 
research has also helped QPP build key collaborations 
with academic institutions, creating an evidence base 
for QPP/RAPID’s ground-breaking and boundary-
pushing work.

The RAPID team embraced the above frameworks 
and grew under the guidance of Jime’s leadership style 
and dedication to the work they were providing. The 
ethical pragmatism of no fuss, no shame-anonymous 
testing within the clinic is forever influenced by Jime’s 
oeuvre and passion.

Consequently, we all, can embrace the values and 
processes built upon by Jime at RAPID. There are too 
many who happily align themselves with the rhetoric 
of justice, but resist even timid reforms that would 
challenge stigma and inequality for PLHIV. There are 
too many who claim solidarity with deconstructing 
personal power, but do not tolerate dissent from 
the people around them. And there are too many 
on the periphery, comfortable in self-righteousness 
or cynicism when justice, PLHIV and community 
voices must be heard. Jime presented us with an 
invitation - about, how we can change. That we 
can choose a world defined not by our differences, 
but by our connections and our humanity. We can 
actively choose a world defined not by oppression, 
but by social justice and new edges for our thinking.

The Board and staff of QPP wish to thank Jime 
for his unrelenting steadfastness and fervour in 
doing not only what we can… but also what we 
should! QPP and RAPID will carry the values and 
will remember the gestures, large and small that 
revealed the depth of his sense of justice and taught 
those around him to find this within themselves. We 
know he will continue to light the fire of the minds 
of those around him wherever he goes!

“I have pride in the genuine commitment of the 
personal and professional development of all the 
staff I have had the privilege to work with. It was 
a joy to have worked with so many passionate and 
altruistic individuals within the organisation across a 
range of programs and years.”
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STIGMA PROJECT – PEER 
LED STIGMA REDUCTION 
INTERVENTIONS
WHAT IS THE STIGMA PROJECT?

THE WORKSHOP – POSITIVE 
CHANGE FOR POSITIVE PEOPLE

PEER NAVIGATION MODULE – 
RESILIENCE AND STIGMA

IN REVIEW

positive change for 
positive people

2
1

WORKSHOPS
IN BRISBANE

WORKSHOP IN 
ROCKHAMPTON

The PLSR project was developed in response to the 
need for internalised stigma education and resilience 
building tools for PLHIV throughout Queensland 
and to further build upon the capacity of the Peer 
Navigation program to deliver resilience and stigma 
content. While not able to collect quantitative data 
for all of the follow up points, participants have 
reported the improvements on their life and the 
impact the workshop has had for them through 
other methods of feedback collection.

Two workshops were delivered in Brisbane at 
Manilla Street, with another workshop delivered 
in Rockhampton for people living in the central 
Queensland region.

Positive Change for Positive People focused on two 
key challenges for PLHIV in Queensland – Internalised 
stigma and resilience building skills. Each workshop 
harnessed the tools of the lived experience of a Peer 
Navigator and the skills of psychologists to deliver 
the content and skills to a diverse range of PLHIV 
across the state. The first day of the workshop 
looked at stigma holistically and then narrowed 
down to internalised stigma and the lived experience 

of participants and facilitators in relation to stigma. 
The second day focused on skills and capacity building 
around resilience using compassion focused therapy 
as a tool to help challenge internalised stigma within 
PLHIV.

The Resilience and Stigma module was developed 
to build upon QPP’s Peer Navigation program and 
enable Peer Navigators to have a tool to educate 
and upskill clients in relation to internalised stigma. 
The module took content from the workshop and 
scaled it down to be delivered as a one on one 
intervention tool.

This module differed from other Peer Navigation 
modules as it not only contained information and 
tools to educate but also contained a variety of 
activities the Peer Navigator could undertake with 
a client.

The workshop was well received across all 
participants who attended, though there are 
challenges that remain within the community. 

10 participants attended across the 3 
workshops that were held, with a diverse range 
of participants seen in attendance. 

Peer Navigator Michael (Rockhampton) 
facilitated the regional workshop to great 
success, receiving outstanding feedback from 
participants in the region. 

Positive Change for Positive People was 
presented to clinicians and health care workers 
at The art of ART 2019 conference 

The project would not have been as successful 
without the  valued  contributions from everyone 
involved in the project – thank you to all who were 
involved on the project team, the working groups 
and  staff who supported with recruitment and to 
assist participants in attending the workshops.
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2018 marked the 30th Anniversary of the first ever 
global health awareness day, World AIDS Day. It is a 
day to remember those we have lost and to reflect 
on the progress we have made towards reaching 
the goal of zero new HIV diagnoses in Queensland. 
This year, the Queensland World AIDS Day Alliance 
(QWADA) worked towards stopping stigma and 
discrimination faced by (PLHIV). Advances in 
treatments and HIV prevention methods including 
HIV post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP), PrEP, 
undetectable equals untransmissible (U=U) and 
condoms mean that HIV has become a manageable 
chronic condition, and many PLHIV are able to live 
longer and healthier lives.

The aim of World AIDS Day is to raise consciousness 
in the community about HIV, including understanding 
the needs of, and support for people living with HIV; 
the importance of strengthening existing education 
and prevention initiatives; and the development and 
implementation of innovative new ones. Lastly, we 
hope to break the stigma still associated with HIV. 

This year’s activities included:
 
Lighting of prominent buildings and bridges around 
Queensland.

Other events across Queensland included:

Members of the Queensland Ambulance and 
Queensland Police Service wearing red ribbons.

Numerous events including markets, BBQ’s, 
dinners, information stalls and, candlelight vigils.

Light pole banners in Brisbane, Gold Coast, 
Sunshine Coast and Ipswich.

Pharmacy Guild Promotion – working with over 
90 pharmacies.

Queensland bus advertising

World AIDS Day RED Fun Runs.

World AIDS Day Cocktail Event at Brisbane 
Parliament House.
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WE THANK THOSE WHO 
SUPPORTED WORLD AIDS DAY 
2018. THIS SUCCESS OF THE 
CAMPAIGN WOULD NOT HAVE 
BEEN POSSIBLE WITHOUT 
THEIR UNWAVERING SUPPORT. 
WHETHER YOU PURCHASED 
A RIBBON, VOLUNTEERED OR 
ATTENDED AN EVENT, WE THANK 
YOU. YOUR COMMITMENT AND 
GENEROSITY IS WHAT BRINGS 
THIS CAMPAIGN TO LIFE.

From left to right, Tracey Smith, Jane Copeland, Michael Hickey, Satrio Nindyo Istiko, Nathan Butler, Kaitlyn Thorne, Daryl Smith.
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QPP has a number of dedicated and skilled 
volunteers who provide support to QPP programs, 
as well as peer support groups. Volunteers work 
with our operations team in Brisbane and assist 
with countless tasks, from answering the phone, 
to processing HOPE Fund applications, to keeping 
our functions space and courtyard clean and lively. 
Our volunteers come from diverse professional 
backgrounds, including law, social sciences, public 
health and the arts. This year, Jason, Glenn, Maddie, 
Andrew, Alex, Anvitaa, Matthan and James worked 
as part of our Organisational Support Volunteer 
team and have had a huge impact on the smooth 
running of QPP. We cannot thank them enough for 
all the work they have done for us.

Getting tested for HIV can be a nerve racking 
experience. This is just one reason that our RAPID 
Reception volunteers are so valuable to us. RAPID 
Reception volunteers make our clients feel welcome 
and encourage a positive attitude for choosing to 
test. RAPID is very fortunate to have a roster of 
committed volunteers who selflessly dedicate their 
time to aid the service. The RAPID team, want to 
wholeheartedly thank these people and recognise 
their significant contribution to our clinic. Their 
generosity has a profound and lasting impact upon 
our clients and our staff, and we highly value the 
work they do. As vital members of our team, we 
would like to thank and acknowledge the following 
people for generously donating their time to RAPID 
- Brad Creswell, Charis Webb, Maxwell Webber, 
Kristina Presa, and Sam Luyet. We could not do 
what we do, without you!

“Service to others is the rent you 
pay for your room here on Earth.”

Muhammad Ali
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My name’s Glenn and I have been supporting 
the QPP team as a volunteer for a year 
now. I am currently studying my  Masters 
in Development  Practice at UQ and was 
challenged through my course to undertake 
some regular volunteering in a local 
community. Being a PLHIV myself and having 
volunteered with the PLHIV community in 
Melbourne in the past, I thought QPP was 
a perfect place to re-engage with my local 
PLHIV community. I genuinely love coming 
to QPP  for my volunteering shifts and love 
the safe, inviting and accepting space we 
have here. I have become known as a bit of a 
lunchtime storyteller, which is fun and a great 
way for the team to have a laugh and enjoy 
some time out.   Volunteering for me is so 
much more than just showing up and “doing 
time”. I actually feel like an employee at times 
(which I think is a good thing) and can actually 
see  how my presence assists the team.  By 
helping with Organisational  support  it frees 
up other team members to dedicate solid 
time to a task or project and further to that 
I just genuinely love coming in and sharing in 
the fun! We are so lucky to have this amazing 
peer led, community based organisation here 
in QLD and if anyone out there has a spare 
few hours a week come on down and support 
the team. At worst, you will have a laugh over 
lunch.”

Madeleine Soroka Operations Assistant (left) and Kristina Presa, Project Officer (right).
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POSITIVE ACTION GROUP (PAG)

AGEING WITH HIV

STIGMA AND 
DISCRIMINATION

HIV AND QUALITY OF LIFE

ABORIGINAL AND TORRES 
STRAIT ISLANDER HIV

IMPLEMENTATION 
PLANNING OF THE 8TH 
NATIONAL HIV STRATEGY

NATIONAL PEER 
NAVIGATION STANDARDS

ASHM PLANNING

MEDICARE ELIGIBILITY

CO-PAYMENTS 

HIV TREATMENTS ACCESS.

national association for people 
with hiv australia - napwha

PAG is the PLHIV operational leadership of 
Australia’s HIV response. PAG was formed in 
2013 as an alliance, collaboration and network to 
collectively ensure the greater involvement and 
meaningful engagement of people living with HIV 
(GIPA) in health, social and structural responses 
to HIV in Australia. Members, like QPP, are from 
peer based  (PLHIV) agencies around Australia. 

PAG aims to:

maximise the involvement of PLHIV in the 
development of policy and research;

capacity building - engage and strengthen the 
involvement of marginalised PLHIV in the HIV 
sector;

respond and advocate against HIV stigma, 
discrimination and criminalisation;

promote increased quality of life for PLHIV; and

address health equity for diverse PLHIV 
populations throughout Australia.

KEY WORK 
UNDERTAKEN BY PAG 
IN THIS REPORTING 
PERIOD INCLUDED; 
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HIV EMERGENCY TREATMENT FUNDqpp fund
The HIV Emergency Treatment Fund is a program 
funded by the Queensland Department of Health 
and managed by QPP. The fund provides emergency 
funding for HIV related treatment and services for 
eligible PLHIV in Queensland, who are experiencing 
financial hardship, which may be affecting their 
engagement in HIV treatment and care.

Due to the success and growth of the fund 
in supporting PLHIV to access and maintain 
treatment the Queensland Department of Health 
has supported the continuation of the fund by 
incorporating the fund into QPP’s Treatment and 
Management Program. The fund will therefore 
continue until 2021.
 

QPP would like to thank William Triste and Carla 
Vasoli for their support and coordination of the 
fund and would like to thank and acknowledge the 
Emergency Treatment Fund Committee for their 
continued support over the past year

Committee members include: 

Dr David Siebert – Infectious Diseases Physician, 
Princess Alexandra Hospital

Mr Bernard Gardiner – PhD Student School 
of Public Health, University of Queensland, 
Queensland AIDS Council Board Member 

Ms Gai Lemon – Program Development Officer 
for Mental Health, Alcohol and Other Drugs, 
Brisbane North Primary Health Network 

Mr Chris Howard – Executive Programs 
Manager  and Committee Chair  Queensland 
Positive People

72 11 $99

during the past year...

applications were 
approved by the 
committee, including 
applications from 
34 Medicare eligible 
applicants

applicants identified as 
Aboriginal or Torres 
Strait Islander people

The median amount 
for applications per 
person

41

q p p  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  1 8 / 1 9



The HOPE Fund brings hope and support to 
financially vulnerable PLHIV. During the last financial 
year, the Fund has provided individual grants totalling 
$32,520.91; which have supported 41 successful 
applicants responding in whole or part of their 
needs; provided essential household items to 24 
applicants; assisted in funding necessary services 
for four applicants; and enabled four applicants to 
complete courses to assist access to employment.

The Fund was co-founded by David Bermingham 
and Simon O’Connor and is an initiative of Oz 
Showbiz Cares/Equity Fights AIDS and QPP, in 
partnership with QuAC. The co-founders and a 
representative from each organisation make up the 
grants committee, which makes decisions on the 
outcome of each application.

The HOPE Fund does not receive any government 
funding. All funds raised are donated through 
proceeds from World AIDS Day, community 
fundraising events, as well as private donations from 
individuals and businesses. All donations to the Fund 
(made out to QPP) over $2 are tax deductible. QPP 
administers The HOPE Fund and is the accountable 
body. A volunteer administrator provides support 
to The HOPE Fund, including receiving applications, 
liaising with applicants and making payments.

The balance of The HOPE Fund at 30 June 2019 after all grants were awarded and paid is $160,887.17.

Individual grants awarded by The HOPE Fund
Proportions of the most prevalent categories of items awarded by The HOPE Fund in the last financial
year. This does not include grant for HOPE Fund+.

* calculated on approved applications that have had 
funds distributed within the financial year only.

TOTAL HOPE FUND GRANTS 
AWARDED TO THE COMMUNITY

DONATIONS MADE TO THE HOPE FUND

YEAR ANNUAL 
TOTAL

CUMMULATIVE 
TOTAL

2007 $29,673.79 $29,673.79

2008 $13,584.94 $43,258.73

2009 $36,668.53 $79,927.26

2010 $47,028.94 $126,956.20

2011 $54,001.05 $180,957.25

2012 $44,700.61 $225,657.86

2013 $59,862.05 $285,519.91

2014 $41,659.82 $327,179.73

2015 $24,843.76 $352,023.49

2016 $30,845.32 $382,868.81

2017 $49,907.53 $432,776.34

2018 $48,118.48 $480,894.82

2019 $52,520.91 $513,415.73

SOURCE $ AMOUNT

WORLD AIDS DAY ACTIVITIES $4,133.26

MISCELLANEOUS DONATIONS $2,823.75

TOTAL DONATIONS $6,957.01

INTEREST $792.57

TOTAL INCOME $7,749.58
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NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS AND GRANTS PROVIDED FOR THIS 
FINANCIAL YEAR COMPARED WITH LAST FINANCIAL YEAR.

NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 40 37

SUCCESSFUL APPLICANTS 40 30

TOTAL AMOUNT AWARDED TO
INDIVIDUALS $48,118.48 $32,520.91

HOPE FUND+ GRANT Nil $20,000.00

AVERAGE AMOUNT AWARDED TO
INDIVIDUALS $1,202.96 $1,084.03

Who is eligible to apply to The HOPE Fund?
 
To see if you are eligible to apply to The HOPE Fund 
please email hopefund@qpp.org.au or call QPP on 
07 3013 5555 for the latest application guidelines if 
you wish to apply.

 
 

How can I make a donation to The HOPE Fund? 

Tax-deductible donations can be made to the HOPE 
Fund direct to QPP. You can also contribute to 
The HOPE Fund by attending a ‘Hats Off’ event or 
giving a gold coin donation for a World AIDS Day 
red ribbon fundraising activities throughout the year. 
Look out for the Hope Fund

2017/2018 2018/2019

HOPE Fund+ is an initiative that aims to address the 
gap that exists for client needs that are unable to 
be met through other funds, including the current 
HOPE Fund. In recent years, QPP identified the 
inability of current available funds to meet the broad 
range of PLHIV needs, which were resulting in 
poorer health outcomes for some of our clients and 
exacerbating existing challenges around engagement 
and retention in care and support. Not all clients 
accessing QPP services were eligible to access the 
available funds and the funded types of support 
available did not always meet client needs.
 
Some examples of the types of support HOPE 
Fund+ is able to provide for clients include: 

pre-paid phone credit/phone to enable clients to 
remain engaged and connected with QPP and 
other services; 

emergency accommodation or rent to prevent 
homelessness or assist with commencement of 
a lease;

transport to enable people to access bus/train/
taxi to engage with services; and

non-HIV related medication expenses and food 
costs where some PLHIV may not be eligible to 
access emergency relief services. 

As the name implies we hope that this fund will add 
to health and well-being of the clients.
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qpp acknowledgements 2018/19
Australian Federation of AIDS Organisations (AFAO)

ASHM

Brisbane Sexual Health and HIV Service

ViiV Healthcare

Bodyline Spa and Sauna

Boehringer Ingelheim

ChilliDB

Coast FM

Coast to Bay Housing (Nambour office)

Connect Housing (Mackay office)

Corporate Traveler

CSG Technologies

Gilead Sciences

Indidgi Programs

David Bermingham

Diverse Voices

Dr Andrew Redmond

Dr Darren Russell

Dr David Siebert

Dr Graham Brown (La Trobe)

The Ethnic Communities

Council of Queensland (ECCQ)

Elan Medical Supplies (Beenleigh Office)

Freedom Migration

Gai Lemon

Hepatitis Queensland

HIV Public Health Team

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre

Janssen-Cilag

JBS Bookkeeping

La Trobe University

Joe Debattista

Kirby Institute,

University NSW

McGees Property

LCM Air Conditioning

LGBTI Legal Service

Light and Shade

Living Positive Victoria

MAC Cosmetics

Maximise your Communications

McCullough Robertson Lawyers

Media Heroes

NAPWHA

Number 29 Cruise Club

Performers at CWC

PLDI

Positive Aboriginal and Torres Strait

Islander Network (PATSIN) National

Positive Life NSW

Positive Women Victoria

Queensland Community Service

Employers&#39; Association (QCSEA)

Queensland Council of Social Service

Queensland Department of Health

Queensland AIDS Council (QuAC)

Queensland Sexual Health Services

Queensland Injectors Health

Network (QuIHN)

Queensland World AIDS Day Alliance (QWADA)

RD Martin and Company Lawyers

Sexual Health Society of Queensland

Sportsman’s Hotel

The Hon Michael Kirby AC CMG The

Room Graphic Design

School of Public Health,

University of Queensland

University of Southern Queensland

Wet Spa and Sauna
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audit

Queensland Positive People 
Incorporated
ABN 89 010 040 914

Special Purpose Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2019

45

q p p  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  1 8 / 1 9



Queensland Positive People Inc.

30 June 2019

Contents

Page

Management Committee's Report 1

Income and Expenditure Statement 3

Balance Sheet 4

Statement of Changes in Equity 5

Statement of Cash Flows 6

Notes to the Financial Statements 7

Management Committee's Declaration 13

Audit Report 14

Auditors Independence Declaration 17

46

q p p  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  1 8 / 1 9



Queensland Positive People Inc.

30 June 2019
1

Management Committee's Report
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The objects for which the association is established are:
• to encourage members and other persons who are living with, and/or affected by HIV, to participate in the associationʼs 
activities and programs throughout Queensland; 
• to provide a holistic approach to support people living with HIV (PLHIV) to address a range of social determinant 
barriers that may impact their effective self-management of HIV;
• to support those newly diagnosed with HIV and those re-engaging with care to navigate the complex environment of 
HIV treatment and care; 
• to promote, encourage and facilitate the self-esteem and personal dignity of members of the association and the 
broader PLHIV community; 
• to promote and support PLHIV in their endeavours to achieve independence and self-determination within the 
community;
• to promote a positive image of PLHIV, in order to advance their human rights and dignity; including their right to 
participate in the Australian community without fear of stigma and discrimination;
• to encourage, assist and collaborate with any incorporated or unincorporated organisation, institution, or body, which, 
in the opinion of the association, has similar or compatible objects.

3 3
6 3

Your committee members submit the financial report of the Queensland Positive People Inc. for the financial year ended 
30 June 2019.
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

7 committee meetings were held during year end 30 June 2019.

The names of committee members in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are:

Committee member No. of eligibles meetings No. of meeting attended

7 4
3 3
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2

Management Committee's Report

OPERATING RESULT

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the members of the committee.

Secretary – Vaughan McLachlan

The net loss from ordinary activities for the year amounted to $94,452(2018: $122,255 profit).

Signed in Brisbane this                 day of September 2019
President – Matt Hall

sixteenth
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Income and Expenditure Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018
$ $

Revenue

Revenue from grant funding 2 3,358,090 2,946,672
Other revenue 2 120,839 106,698
Donations / fundraising received 2 39,069 113,796
Total Revenue 3,517,998 3,167,166

Expenses

Employee expenses 2,205,254 1,782,225
Property and maintenance expenses 71,342 51,212
Catering and community expenses 52,116 46,296
Administration expenses 560,747 460,837
Depreciation and amortisation 6 51,134 53,020
Rent expense 226,613 233,405
Hope fund expenses 27,127 48,118
Clinic consumables 168,708 125,278
Other expenses from ordinary activities 249,409 244,520
Total Expenses 3,612,450 3,044,911

Net surplus / (deficit) (94,452) 122,255

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of 
income tax - -

Total comprehensive income / (loss)  for the year (94,452) 122,255

         The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 49
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Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018
$ $

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 3 1,769,073 1,387,866
Other Assets 4 141,012 237,876
Trade and Other Receivable 5 3,630 1,975
Total Current Assets 1,913,715 1,627,717
Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 6 1,726,796 1,737,021
Other Assets 4 25,195 49,264
Total Non-Current Assets 1,751,991 1,786,285
Total Assets 3,665,706 3,414,002
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 7 869,877 451,221
Employee Entitlements 8 134,069 206,569
Total Current Liabilities 1,003,946 657,790
Total Liabilities 1,003,946 657,790
Net Assets 2,661,760 2,756,212

Equity
Retained surplus / (deficit) 9 2,661,760 2,756,212
Total Equity 2,661,760 2,756,212

         The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.50
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Retained 
Surplus Total

$ $

Balance at 1 July 2017 2,633,957 2,633,957
Net surplus / (deficit) 122,255 122,255
Balance at 30 June 2018 2,756,212 2,756,212

Balance at 1 July 2018 2,756,212 2,756,212
Net surplus / (deficit) (94,452) (94,452)
Balance at 30 June 2019 2,661,760 2,661,760

         The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 51
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018
$ $

Cash flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 3,970,356 3,389,616
Interest received 6,109 6,661
Payments to suppliers & employees (3,554,349) (3,205,779)
Net cash from / (used in) operating activities 10 422,116 190,498

Cash flows from Investing Activities
Payment for property, plant and equipment (40,909) (5,244)
Net cash used in investing activities (40,909) (5,244)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held 381,207 185,254
Cash at beginning of the financial year 1,387,866 1,202,612
Cash at end of the financial year 3 1,769,073 1,387,866

         The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.52
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

1.    Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

This financial report is a special purpose financial report prepared in order to satisfy the financial 
reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act (QLD) 1981 and the Australian
Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012.  The committee has determined that
 the Association is not a reporting entity.

Basis of Preparation 
The report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the following applicable
Australian Accounting Standards:

     AASB 101:    Presentation of Financial Statements;
     AASB 107:    Statement of Cash Flows;
     AASB 108:    Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors; 
     AASB 1054:  Australian Additional Disclosures.

No other Accounting Standards, Accounting Interpretations or other authoritative pronouncements of
the Australian Accounting Standards Board have been applied.  The Association is a not for profit 
entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.  This financial report
covers Queensland Positive People Inc. as a single entity and has been prepared in Australian
dollars and rounded to the nearest whole dollar.

Reporting Basis and Conventions 
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis, and is based on historical costs, and 
does not take into account changing money values or, except where specifically stated, current
valuations of non-current assets.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Association in the
preparation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless
otherwise stated.

Accounting Policies 
a. Income Tax

By virtue of Section 50-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, the Association is not liable for
income tax.

b. Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment purchased by the Association are carried at cost.  The depreciable 
amount of all property, plant and equipment, excluding land are depreciated over the useful 
lives of the assets to the Association commencing from the time the asset is held ready 
for use. 

Buildings
The Building purchased at 21 Manilla Street is depreciated on a straight line basis at a rate 
of 3.33% p.a.
Plant and Equipment
The plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis at a rate 
of 1 to 10 years
Leasehold improvement 
The leasehold improvements are depreciated over the life of the lease to which they relate. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

c. Revenue and Other Income
Grant revenue is recognised in the income and expenditure statement when the Association 
obtains control of the grant and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the 
grant will flow to the association and the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. 
If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive 
the contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those 

When grant revenue is received whereby the Association incurs an obligation to deliver 
economic value directly back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction 
and the grant revenue is recognised in the balance sheet as a liability until the service has 
been delivered to the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt.

d. Employee Entitlements
Provision is made for the Association's liability for employee benefits arising from services
rendered by employees to balance date.  Employee entitlements that are expected to be
settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liability is settled, plus related on-costs.  Employee entitlements payable later than one year
have not been discounted to the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made for those benefits.

e. Impairment of Assets
At the end of each reporting period, the committee reviews the carrying amounts of its 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired.
 If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing 
the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the assetʼs fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use, is compared to the assetʼs carrying amount. Any excess of the assetʼs 
carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised in the income and expenditure 
statement.

f. Leases
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the 
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity are classified 
as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the 
amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated 
between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated 
useful lives or the lease term.
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain 
with the lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

g. Economic Dependency
Queensland Positive People Inc. is economically dependent upon the continued grant 
funding – particularly funding provided by Queensland Health.  Should this funding to 
Queensland Positive People Inc. discontinue at some point in the future, it is possible it would 
not be financially viable and would have trouble continuing as a going concern.

conditions are satisfied.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 

rate financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument. Dividend revenue is recognised 
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating 

when the right to receive a dividend has been established.

Donation income is recognised when received.

54

q p p  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  1 8 / 1 9



Queensland Positive People Inc.

30 June 2019

9

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

2.    Revenue 

2019 2018
$ $

Grant Funding
Recurrent grant funding 3,258,435 2,875,408
Other a 99,655 71,264

Total Grant Funding 3,358,090 2,946,672

Other Revenues
Public speaking income 3,137 3,215
Interest received 6,109 6,661
Rental income 111,593 96,822

Total Other Revenue 120,839 106,698

Non - Operating Activities
Donations and fundraising income 39,069 113,796

Total Revenue 3,517,998 3,167,166

3.    Cash and Cash Equivalents

2019 2018
$ $

Cash at bank and on hand a 1,769,073 1,387,866
1,769,073 1,387,866

a. Included in this balance is $71,008 held as a bank guarantee for a lease.

4.    Other Assets

2019 2018
Current $ $
Prepayments 141,012 237,876

Non - current
Prepayments 25,195 49,264
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

5.    Trade and Other Receivables

2019 2018
$ $

Trade receivables 3,630 1,975
GST receivable - -

3,630 1,975

6.    Property, Plant and Equipment

2019 2018
$ $

Plant and equipment - at cost 147,214 157,794
Less Accumulated Depreciation (110,896) (139,145)

36,318 18,649

Buildings - at cost 1,071,590 1,071,590
Less Accumulated Depreciation (396,192) (360,491)

a 675,398 711,099

Land - at cost a 1,007,273 1,007,273

Leasehold Improvements - at cost 10,128 -
Less Accumulated Depreciation (2,321) -

7,807 -

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 1,726,796 1,737,021

a. A mortgage to the Queensland Department of Heath exists over the land and buildings.
2019 2018

$ $
Reconciliation

Plant and Equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of period 18,648 30,723
Additions 30,781 5,244
Depreciation (13,111) (17,319)
Carrying amount at end of period 36,318 18,648

Buildings
Carrying amount at beginning of period 711,099 746,800
Additions - -
Depreciation (35,701) (35,701)
Carrying amount at end of period 675,398 711,099

Leasehold Improvements
Carrying amount at beginning of period - -
Additions 10,128 -
Depreciation (2,321) -
Carrying amount at end of period 7,807 -

Reconciliation of the carrying out of each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:

56

q p p  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  1 8 / 1 9



Queensland Positive People Inc.

30 June 2019

11

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

7.    Trade and Other Payables
2019 2018

Current - unsecured: $ $
Trade payables 101,277 187,169
Other creditors and accruals 3,432 15,049
GST & PAYG payable 121,006 60,598
Accrued salary, wages & superannuation 199,430 84,974
Grants in advance - other 380,180 38,879
Grants in advance - rental bond 64,552 64,552

869,877 451,221

8.    Employee Entitlements
2019 2018

Current $ $
Employee liabilities 134,069 206,569

134,069 206,569

9.    Retained Surplus
2019 2018

Retained surplus / (deficit) at beginning of the year $ $
Net surplus / (deficit) for the year 2,756,212 2,633,957
Retained surplus / (deficit) at end of the year (94,452) 122,255

2,661,760 2,756,212

10.  Cash Flow Information

Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities with net current

years surplus or deficit

Net surplus / (deficit) for the year (94,452) 122,255
Non-cash flows:
  - Depreciation and amortisation expense 51,134 53,020
Changes in assets and liabilities:
  (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (1,655) 113,414
  (Increase)/decrease in other assets 120,933 (159,639)
  Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 418,656 88,610
  Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (72,500) (27,162)
Cash flows (used in)/provided by operating activities 422,116 190,498

The association has $21,505 unused credit facilities available at year end.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

11.  Auditor remuneration

2019 2018
$ $

Audit of the financial statements 11,500 11,100
Less donation (5,700) (5,500)
Other services - accounting assistance 2,500 2,400
Other services - policy review - 2,200

8,300 10,200

12.  Contingent Liabilities

13.  Association details

14.  Events After Balance Date

No significant subsequent events have occurred between the balance sheet date and the date of this
financial report which would make these financial statements for the year materially inaccurate or 
misleading, nor are any matters pending which might have such an effect.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Members of the Committee at the date of 
the signing of the Statement by Members of the Committee (refer page 13). 

No contingent liabilities were known at the date of this report.

The associations address is, 21 Manilla St, East Brisbane, Qld, 4169.
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Management Committee's Declaration

1

2

Secretary – Vaughan McLachlanPresident – Matt Hall

The committee has determined that the Association is not a reporting entity and that this special purpose financial 
report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies outlined in Note 1 to the financial statements.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the committee and is signed for and on behalf of the 
committee by:

a.   The financial report of Queensland Positive People Inc. is in accordance with the Associations Incorporation Act 
(QLD) 1981 and Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 including:

giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Queensland Positive People Incorporated as at 30 
June 2019 and its performance for the year ended on that date; and

complying with Australian Accounting Standards as outlined in Note 1 to the financial statements and 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013, and

b.   At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Queensland Positive People 
Incorporated will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Signed in Brisbane this                            day of September 2019sixteenth
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Members of Queensland Positive People Inc. 
 
Report on the audit of the financial report  

 
Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Queensland Positive People Inc. (the 
“Registered Entity”), which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2019, and the income and 
expenditure statement, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies and the Management Committee’s declaration. 

In our opinion, the financial report of Queensland Positive People Inc. has been prepared in 
accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 
(ACNC Act), including: 

a giving a true and fair view of the Registered Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and 
of its financial performance for the year then ended; and  

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1 and Division 
60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

Basis for Auditor’s Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Registered Entity in accordance 
with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 
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Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Queensland Positive People Inc. (the 
“Registered Entity”), which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2019, and the income and 
expenditure statement, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies and the Management Committee’s declaration. 

In our opinion, the financial report of Queensland Positive People Inc. has been prepared in 
accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 
(ACNC Act), including: 

a giving a true and fair view of the Registered Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and 
of its financial performance for the year then ended; and  

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1 and Division 
60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

Basis for Auditor’s Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Registered Entity in accordance 
with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 

 

 
 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting 
We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting.  The 
financial report has been prepared for the purposes of fulfilling the Registered Entity’s financial 
reporting responsibilities under the ACNC Act.  As a result the financial report may not be suitable 
for another purpose.  Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Information 
The Management Committee are responsible for the other information.  The other information 
comprises the information included in the Registered Entity’s Management Committee’s report for 
the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report 
thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Committee Members for the Financial Report 
The Committee Members of the Registered Entity are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and have determined that the basis of preparation 
described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to meet the requirements of the ACNC 
Act. The Committee Members responsibility also includes such internal control as the Committee 
Members’ determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   

In preparing the financial report, the Committee Members are responsible for assessing the 
Registered Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Committee Members 
either intend to liquidate the Registered Entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  

The Committee Members are responsible for overseeing the Registered Entity’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Registered Entity’s internal control. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Committee Members. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Committee Members’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Registered Entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Registered Entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

 
 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 

 
S G Hancox 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 
Brisbane, 16 September 2019 
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ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Registered Entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

 
 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 

 
S G Hancox 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 
Brisbane, 16 September 2019 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
To the Committee Members of Queensland Positive People Inc. 

In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012, as lead auditor for the audit of Queensland Positive People Inc. for the year 
ended 30 June 2019, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

 

 
S G Hancox 
Partner - Audit & Assurance 

Brisbane, 16 September 2019 
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